

Request for Proposal # 1573

For: Montclair Unbound Marketing

Event	Date	Time
Request For Proposal Issuance	9/12/23	N/A
Site Visit/Pre-Bid Meeting (Refer to RFP Section 1.0 for more information.)	N/A	N/A
Questions Due	9/21/23	10:00 AM
Answers Posted (approximate date and time)	9/26/23	4:00 PM
Bid Submission Due Date (Refer to RFP Section 4.0 for more information.)	10/9/23	10:00 AM

Dates are subject to change. All changes will be reflected in Addendum issued. All times contained in the RFP refer to Eastern Time.

Small Business	Status	Category
Set-Aside (Refer to RFP Section 4 for more information.)	 Not Applicable ☐ Entire Contract ☐ Partial Contract ☐ Subcontracting Only 	I II III

RFP Issued By

Office of Procurement Services Montclair State University Overlook Corporate Center 150 Clove Road, Third Floor Little Falls, New Jersey 07424

Assigned Procurement Services Buyer: Primary: Liz Blades, Secondary: Joseph Alim

Telephone #:973-655-4402 973-655-7425

E-mail: <u>bladese@montclair.edu</u>; <u>alimj@montclair.edu</u>

SIGNATURE PAGE: REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL # 1573			
FOR: Montclair Unbound Marketing	OR: Montclair Unbound Marketing RETURN PROPOSAL TO:		
	OFF	ICE OF PROCUREMENT SERVICES	
	MO	NTCLAIR STATE UNIVERSITY	
	150	Clove Road, Third Floor	
	Little	e Falls, NJ 07424	
PROCUREMENT SERVICES BUYER: Liz Blades, blade	ese@montcla	i <u>r.edu</u>	
1. PROPOSALS MUST BE RECEIVED AT OR BEFORE	E THE PUBL	IC OPENING TIME OF 10:00 AM ON 10/9/23 AT THE	
FOLLOWING ADDRESS (NOTE: TELEPHONE, TELE ACCEPTED):	FACSIMILE,	EMAIL, OR TELEGRAPH PROPOSALS WILL NOT BE	
OFFICE O	F PROCURE	EMENT SERVICES	
		E UNIVERSITY	
		3 RD FLOOR	
	TTLE FALLS		
		FP) SIGNATURE PAGE IN ADDITION TO THE ITEMS	
		. HYPERLINKS TO EACH FORM HAVE BEEN PROVIDED	
	ORMATION	PROPOSAL PRICES SHALL INCLUDE DELIVERY OF ALL	
ITEMS. F.O.B. DESTINATION OR AS OTHERWISE P			
ISSUANCE OF A CONTRACT.			
4. ALL PROPOSAL PRICES MUST BE TYPED OR WR	ATTEN IN IN	IK.	
5. THE BIDDER IS STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO A	TTEND THE	PRE-BID CONFERENCE(S) AND SITE VISIT(S). NO	
SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS WILL BE MADE FOR TI	HOSE NOT A	ATTENDING. INFORMATION ON PRE-BID CONFERENCE(S)	
AND SITE VISIT(S) CAN BE FOUND IN THE SCHED	ULE OF EVE	ENTS SECTION OF THIS REQUEST.	
6. PROPOSALS SHALL REMAIN OPEN FOR ACCEPT	ANCE AND	MAY NOT BE CHANGED OR WITHDRAWN FOR A	
PERIOD OF SIXTY (60) DAYS AFTER THE BID OPEN	NING DATE.		
TO BE COMPLETED BY BIDDER			
BIDDER NAME:			
ADDRESS:			
		FEDERAL TAX IDENTIFICATION	
BIDDER TEL#: EX	KT:	#	
BIDDER FAX#:		BIDDER E-MAIL:	
SIGNATURE OF THE BIDDER ATTESTS THAT THE BIDDER HAS READ, UNDERSTANDS, AND AGREES TO ALL TERMS,			
CONDITIONS, AND SPECIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL INCLUDING ALL ADDENDA,			
FURTHERMORE, SIGNATURE BY THE BIDDER SIGNIFIES THAT ADDENDA ISSUED, THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL,			
THE UNIVERSITY'S STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS (APPENDIX 1) AND THE RESPONSIVE PROPOSAL			
CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT UPON THE UNIVERSITY'S OPTION TO ISSUE A WRITTEN NOTICE OF ACCEPTANCE TO			
BIDDER FOR ANY OR ALL OF THE ITEMS BID, AND FOR THE LENGTH OF TIME INDICATED IN THE REQUEST FOR			
PROPOSAL. FAILURE TO ACCEPT THE CONTRACT WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD INDICATED IN THE REQUEST FOR			
PROPOSAL, OR FAILURE TO HOLD PRICES OR TO MEET ANY OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS DEFINED IN			
EITHER ADDENDA OR THE REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL DURING THE TERM OF THE CONTRACT SHALL CONSTITUTE A			
BREACH AND MAY RESULT IN DEFAULT BY THE CONTRACTOR AND/OR CONTRACT TERMINATION.			
ORIGINAL SIGNATURE OF BIDDER		DATE	
PRINT/TYPE NAME		TITLE	

Table of Contents

1.0	INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS	5
	1.1 SCHEDULE OF EVENTS	5
	1.1.1 REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL	5
	1.1.2 SITE VISIT / PRE-BID MEETINGS	5
	1.1.3 QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS	
	1.1.4 ADDENDUM	
	1.1.5 QUOTES / PROPOSALS / BIDS DUE DATE	
	1.2 PURPOSE AND INTENT	
	1.3 BACKGROUND	
	1.4 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	
	1.4.1 BIDDER RESPONSIBILITY	7
	1.4.2 COST LIABILITY	7
	1.4.3 JOINT VENTURE	
	1.4.4 BID ERRORS 1.4.5 CONTENT OF PROPOSALS	
2.0		
2.0		
	2.1 GENERAL DEFINITIONS	
	2.2 CONTRACT SPECIFIC DEFINITIONS	
3.0	SCOPE OF WORK	11
	3.1 MARKET RESEARCH	11
	3.2 PROGRAM MARKETING	
	3.3 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS	
4.0		
4.0		
	4.1 GENERAL	13
	4.2 BID PROPOSAL DELIVERY AND IDENTIFICATION	
	4.3 SUBMISSION OF PROPOSAL	
	4.5 PROPOSAL CONTENT	
	4.6 PRICING	14
	4.6.1 PRICE ALTERATION	14
	4.7 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL / STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS	14
	4.7 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL / STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS	16
	4.8.1 BID SECURITY	16
	4.8.2 FINANCIAL CAPABILITY OF THE BIDDER	16
	4.8.3 PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION	16
5.0	PROPOSAL EVALUATION	16
	5.1 EVALUATION CRITERIA	16
	5.1.1 TECHNICAL EVALUATION CRITERIA	16
	5.1.2 PRICE EVALUATION	
	5.2 ORAL PRESENTATION AND/OR CLARIFICATION OF PROPOSAL	17

	5.3 BEST AND FINAL OFFER (BAFO)	17
	5.3 BEST AND FINAL OFFER (BAFO) 5.4 PROPOSAL DISCREPANCIES	18
6.0	CONTRACT AWARD	18
	6.1 AWARD	18
	6.2 BIDDERS RIGHT TO PROTEST AWARD OF CONTRACT	18
7.0	SPECIAL CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS	18
	7.1 PRECEDENCE OF SPECIAL CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS	18
	7.2 CONTRACT TERM AND EXTENSION OPTION	19
	7.3 CONTRACT TRANSITION	19
	7.4 CONTRACT AMENDMENT	19
	7.5 CONTRACTOR'S WARRANTY	19
	7.6 ITEMS ORDERED AND DELIVERED – NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS RFP	
	7.7 REMEDIES FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH MATERIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS	20
	7.8 SUBSTITUTION OF STAFF	20
	7.9 ADDITIONAL WORK AND/OR SPECIAL PROJECTS	20
API	PENDIX #1 - REQUIRED SUPPORTING BID DOCUMENTS (CHECKLIST)	22

1.0 INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS

1.1 SCHEDULE OF EVENTS

Event	Date	Time
Request For Proposal Issuance	9/12/23	N/A
Site Visit/Pre-Bid Meeting (Refer to RFP Section 1.1.2 for more information.)	N/A	N/A
Questions Due	9/21/23	10:00 AM
Answers Posted (approximate date and time)	9/26/23	4:00 PM
Bid Submission Due / Public Bid Opening (Refer to RFP Section 4.0 for more information.)	10/9/23	10:00 AM

1.1.1 REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL

Bidders are requested to provide their proposals in accordance with the terms and conditions provided within this solicitation. A Proposal that is submitted with revisions or additions to the terms and conditions for this Request for Proposal (RFP) may be deemed non-responsive.

1.1.2 SITE VISIT / PRE-BID MEETINGS

Not applicable to this RFP.

1.1.3 QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Procurement Services will accept questions and inquiries from all potential Bidders via e-mail to bladese@montclair.edu and copying alimj@montclair.edu. Bidders are not to contact the University user department directly, in person, by telephone or by email, concerning this RFP. All questions submitted by the above due date and time will be provided and answered via Addendum to this RFP on or around the date provided in RFP Section 1.1.

1.1.4 ADDENDUM

In the event that it becomes necessary to clarify or revise this RFP, such clarification or revision will be by Addendum. Any Addendum to this RFP will become part of this RFP and part of any Contract awarded as a result of this RFP.

ADDENDUM ISSUED WILL BE POSTED ON THE PROCUREMENT SERVICES WEBPAGE.

There are no designated dates for release of Addendum. Notice of Addendum issued may be emailed by the assigned Procurement Services buyer to the invited Bidders in advance of the bid opening date however interested Bidders should check the Procurement Services' webpage on a daily basis from the time of RFP issuance through Proposal submission. It is the sole responsibility of the Bidder to be knowledgeable of Addendum issued relating to this RFP.

1.1.5 QUOTES / PROPOSALS / BIDS DUE DATE

Bidders must submit all information requested herein no later than the above referenced date and time in order to be considered for award. Incomplete proposals may be rejected. Bidder submissions must be in accordance with the instructions found in Section 4 of this solicitation.

NOTE: Bidders are not to contact the University using department directly, in person, by telephone or by email, concerning this RFP.

1.2 PURPOSE AND INTENT

This RFP is issued by the Office of Procurement Services (Procurement Services), Montclair State University (University). The purpose of this RFP is to work with a higher education focused marketing company to provide expertise in market research and marketing support on both paid and organic marketing efforts. This project will initially entail working with Montclair's portfolio of existing master and certificate (both online and on-campus) programs and existing online undergraduate programs but will expand to include new programs as determined by the University.

The intent of this RFP is to award a Contract(s) to that responsible Bidder(s) whose Proposal(s), conforming to this RFP is most advantageous to the University, price and other factors considered. The University reserves the right to award Contracts as a result of this RFP to more than one Bidder. The University may award any and all price lines. However, the University reserves the right to separately procure individual requirements that are the subject of the awarded Contract during the Contract term, when deemed by the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer to be in the University's best interest.

The University's Standard Contract Terms and Conditions (Appendix 1, Item 2.3), are part of the awarded Contract. The University's Standard Contract Terms and Conditions are in addition to the terms and conditions set forth in this RFP and should be read in conjunction with them.

1.3 BACKGROUND

General: Montclair State University is a research doctoral institution ranked in the top tier of national universities. Building on a distinguished history dating back to 1908, the University today has 10 colleges and schools that serve approximately 21,000 undergraduate and graduate students with more than 300 doctorial, masters and baccalaureate programs. Situated on a beautiful, 252-acre suburban campus in Passaic and Essex Counties just 14 miles from New York City, Montclair State delivers the instructional and research resources of a large public university in a supportive, sophisticated and diverse academic environment. Effective July 1, 2023, Bloomfield College has officially become part of Montclair and will be known as "Bloomfield College of Montclair State University".

Project Specific:

Montclair is in the midst of a new strategic initiative under the name Montclair Unbound. This new initiative under Academic Affairs seeks to centralize the support and management of all flexible academic

offerings which may include online, off-site, low residency, and non-credit programs. President Jonathan Koppell has cited his vision for Montclair Unbound in various forums over the past year:

- 9/15/22 Investiture Speech
- ROI-NJI Article Year 2: How Koppell is aiming to raise profile of Montclair State
- NJ Monthly Article: New Montclair State President Works to Elevate School's Visibility

As a result, the University is seeking a strategic partner with a proven model of delivering sustainable marketing growth for both undergraduate and graduate programs. The firm awarded the contract will work with the University's offices of Communication and Marketing, Enrollment Management, and Montclair Unbound to promote and support the following programs:

- 1) Online undergraduate programs
- 2) Online graduate programs
- 3) In-person master's degree programs (domestic market only)
- 4) In-person/online post-secondary certificate programs (domestic market only)

The awarded firm will have expertise in the digital marketing space and demonstrated ability to generate organic and paid leads that result in increased student enrollments. The awarded firm's success will be measured by meeting enrollment targets of new students applied, admitted, and enrolled in programs that fall under the scope of this agreement.

Based on the programs listed above, the initial target population is domestic students residing within the local area (New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, and Connecticut). The objective of this project is to:

- 1) Provide market research and Identify key programs for growth
- 2) Develop and implement multi-platform engagement & positioning for both paid and organic marketing
- 3) Increase the number and quality of the applicant pools
- 4) Increase targeted program brand awareness
- 5) Provide oversight to ensure effectiveness of the marketing plan (ROI)

1.4 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.4.1 BIDDER RESPONSIBILITY

The Bidder assumes sole responsibility for the complete effort required in submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP. No special consideration will be given after Proposals are opened because of a Bidder's failure to be knowledgeable as to all of the requirements of this RFP.

1.4.2 COST LIABILITY

The University assumes no responsibility and bears no liability for costs incurred by a Bidder in the preparation and submittal of a Proposal in response to this RFP.

1.4.3 JOINT VENTURE

If a joint venture is submitting a Proposal, the agreement between the parties relating to such joint venture should be submitted with the joint venture's bid proposal. Authorized signatories from each party comprising the joint venture must sign the RFP Signature Page. All items on Appendix 1 must be completed by each party to the joint venture. Proposals should not include a structure that requires the University to create a joint venture with the Bidder(s).

1.4.4 BID ERRORS

A Bidder may withdraw its Proposal prior to bid opening. Such request must be made, in writing, to the Director of Procurement Services. The Bidder may submit a revised Proposal as long as the Proposal is received prior to the announced date and time for Proposal submission.

If, after the opening of Proposal but before Contract award, a Bidder discovers an error in its bid proposal, the Bidder may make written request to the Director of Procurement Services for authorization to withdraw its bid proposal from consideration for award. Evidence of the Bidder's good faith in making this request shall be used in making the determination. The factors that will be considered are that the mistake is so significant that to enforce the Contract resulting from the Proposal would be unconscionable; that the mistake relates to a material feature of the contract; that the mistake occurred notwithstanding the Bidder's exercise of reasonable care; and that the University will not be significantly prejudiced by granting the withdrawal of the Proposal.

If, during the evaluation of Proposal received, an obvious pricing error made by a potential Contract awardee is found, the Director of Procurement Services shall issue written notice to the Bidder. The Bidder will have five (5) days after receipt of the notice to confirm its pricing. If the Bidder fails to respond, its Proposal shall be considered withdrawn, and no further consideration shall be given it.

If it is discovered that there is an arithmetic disparity between the unit of measure and the total percentage of net tuition, the unit measure shall prevail. If there is any other ambiguity in the pricing other than a disparity between the unit of measure and net percentage and the Bidder's intention is not readily discernible from other parts of the Proposal, the assigned Procurement Services buyer may seek clarification from the Bidder to ascertain the true intent of the Proposal.

1.4.5 CONTENT OF PROPOSALS

Subsequent to bid opening, all information submitted by a Bidder in the Proposal is considered public information, except as may be exempted from public disclosure by the Open Public Records Act, N.J.S.A. 47:1A-1 et seq., and/or other applicable law.

A Bidder may designate specific information in its Proposal as confidential and proprietary if the Bidder has a good faith legal/factual basis for such assertion. The University reserves the right to make the determination and will advise the Bidder accordingly. Confidential and proprietary information shall be clearly and prominently identified in the Proposal and in a cover letter. The University will disregard any attempt by a Bidder either to designate its entire Proposal as confidential, proprietary and/or subject to copyright protection.

By signing the RFP Signature Page, the Bidder waives any claims of copyright protection set forth within its proposal and any third-party manufacturer's price list and/or catalogs. Price lists and/or catalogs cannot be kept confidential and must be accessible to University user departments.

The Bidder is advised to thoroughly read and follow all instructions contained in this RFP.

Note: Proposal shall not contain URLs (Uniform Resource Locators, i.e., the global address of documents and other resources on the World Wide Web) or web addresses. Inasmuch as the web contains dynamically changing content, inclusion of a URL or web address in a Proposal response is indicative of potentially changing information. Inclusion of a URL or web address in a Proposal response implies that the Proposal's content changes as the referenced web pages change.

2.0 **DEFINITIONS**

2.1 GENERAL DEFINITIONS

The following definitions will be part of the contract awarded as a result of this RFP:

Addendum - Written clarification or revision to this RFP issued by Procurement Services.

<u>All-Inclusive Pricing</u> - A price that is all-inclusive of all direct and indirect costs, including, but not limited to, third party fees, delivery, direct labor costs, overhead, fee or profit, equipment, materials, supplies, managerial support, documents, forms, travel, delivery, reproductions thereof and any other costs. No additional fees or costs shall be paid by the University unless there is a change in the scope of work.

<u>Amendment</u> - A change in the scope of work to be performed by the Contractor after Contract award. An Amendment is not effective until signed by the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer.

<u>Best and Final Offer (BAFO)</u> – Pricing timely submitted by a Bidder upon invitation by the Procurement Department after Proposal opening.

Bidder – An entity submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP.

<u>Contract</u> - The Contract consists of any Addendum to this RFP, this RFP, the University's Standard Terms and Conditions (Appendix 1, Item 2.3), the awarded Bidder's Proposal as accepted by the University and any subsequent written document memorializing the agreement, any modifications to any of these documents approved by the University, or post-award documents including Amendments agreed to by the University and the Contractor, in writing.

Contractor - The Contractor is the Bidder awarded a Contract.

Director – Director of Procurement Services.

<u>Joint Venture</u> – A business undertaking by two or more entities to share risk and responsibility for a specific project.

May - Denotes that which is permissible, but not mandatory.

<u>Proposal</u> – Bidder's timely response to the RFP including, but not limited to, technical Proposal, price Proposal including Best and Final Offer, any licenses, forms, certifications, clarifications, and/or other documentation required by the RFP.

<u>Request for Proposal (RFP)</u> - This document, which establishes the bidding and Contract requirements and solicits bid proposals to meet the purchase needs of the University.

<u>Shall or Must</u> - Denotes that which is a mandatory requirement.

Should - Denotes that which is recommended, but not mandatory.

2.2 CONTRACT SPECIFIC DEFINITIONS - Not applicable to this RFP.

3.0 SCOPE OF WORK

3.1 MARKET RESEARCH

The Contractor shall:

- 1) Provide initial and ongoing market analysis, either annually or as needed, of Montclair's masters, certificate, and online program offerings to help identify key programs to focus our marketing efforts, assist in setting a marketing budget, strategies and setting of enrollment goals and KPIs
- 2) Provide detailed market research and recommendations for potential new programs that can go to market and include the industry standard methodology that is used to perform the analysis (e.g., surveys, public data, and competitive analysis)
- 3) Have a minimum of three (3) years of experience working with higher education clients

3.2 PROGRAM MARKETING

The Contractor shall develop and execute a strategic multi-platform marketing campaign to strengthen Montclair's brand position for Montclair Unbound's key programs as follows:

- 1) Identify market opportunities and segments to enhance recruitment efforts
- 2) Build brand awareness (for the program areas listed/proposed) to increase enrollment numbers and diversify student demographics
- 3) Construct an omnichannel strategy for the programs above that includes the following:
 - a. An overarching plan
 - b. Detailed Strategy for each program
 - c. Proposed qualified lead-generating numbers by program
 - d. Anticipated conversion rates from inquiry through matriculation
 - e. Retargeting/remarketing plans
 - f. Success metrics (leads, applications, and starts)
- 4) Provide tracking dashboards for use by Montclair State University program managers through a web interface and a precise schedule for ongoing communication with key Montclair representative
- 5) Create organic, and paid marketing campaigns to drive prospective students to program-specific landing pages (LP). Note that each LP must feed into the University's instance of Slate and must reflect all learning modalities, not just online (or, at a minimum, have easily identifiable links to different modalities for the same program). All landing pages must be hosted by the awarded firm and directed off of the Montclair.edu domain
- 6) Create marketing content to drive organic leads (such as blogs and videos) and provide recommendations for search engine optimization (SEO) for University web pages related to graduate programs. This includes, but is not limited to, recommendations to improve website searches, suggestions on the quality of indexed web pages, descriptions of critical search keywords and content to improve site rankings. (Note: The University's website is currently being overhauled with an estimated completion date of 12/24)

- 7) As part of organic marketing, develop business-to-business relationships to help drive student enrollment
- 8) Provide daily oversight to ensure effectiveness of our marketing campaigns such as A/B testing, etc.
- 9) As needed, develop and execute the creative copywriting, graphic design, production, and delivery of campaign assets
- 10) Develop and implement a plan for influencer and social media marketing in collaboration with University Marketing and Communications.
- 11) Consult with the University program management team quarterly (or as needed) to:
 - a. Improve and refine the University's marketing efforts for programs on an as needed basis
 - b. Review KPIs and ensure alignment of marketing efforts
- 12) Have any earned media efforts approved by University Communications and Marketing
- 13) Agree that all Intellectual Property is owned by Montclair State University.
- 14) Ensure all marketing, branding, and promotion align with Montclair's branding standards (including editorial and visual identity guidelines).
- 15) Ensure all creative materials are reviewed and approved by Montclair State University prior to the implementation of any campaign. Approvals must be in writing

3.3 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor must provide:

- 1) Web content that is mobile friendly
- 2) Landing pages that are hosted by the vendor and redirected to the Montclair.edu domain. All landing page content must be approved by the University prior to implementation and adhere to provided branding standards
- 3) Content developed with accessibility in mind, with the minimum being industry standard Level AA of the W3C's WCAG Guidelines
- 4) Compliance with all relevant state and federal regulations. Which includes, but not limited to, CAN Spam Act, FERPA, Safe Harbor, NC-SARA, and other relevant regulations
- 5) Its own technical solution to collect and track incoming inquiries. The technical solution must either interact with Slate, or other University CRM (Canvas, Ellucian Banner/Workday) or the firm must be able to channel incoming inquiries directly to Slate or other admission CRM

3.4 BILLING

Billing Terms: The Contractor is expected to invoice the University for payment on a quarterly basis.

4.0 PROPOSAL PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION

4.1 GENERAL

The Bidder is advised to thoroughly read and follow all instructions contained in this RFP, including the instructions on the RFP's Cover sheet, in preparing and submitting its Proposal. Failure to submit information as indicated below may result in your Proposal being deemed non-responsive.

4.2 BID PROPOSAL DELIVERY AND IDENTIFICATION

In order to be considered, a Proposal must arrive at Procurement Services in accordance with the instructions on the RFP Signature Page.

Bidders are cautioned to allow adequate delivery time to ensure timely delivery of bid proposals. Late bid proposals are ineligible for consideration.

THE EXTERIOR OF ALL PROPOSAL PACKAGES ARE TO BE LABELED WITH THE RFP NUMBER AND TITLE AND THE BIDDER'S NAME AND ADDRESS.

4.3 SUBMISSION OF PROPOSAL

In order to be considered for award, the Proposal must be received by Procurement Services at the location and by the required date and time identified in this RFP in a sealed envelope marked with the Proposal title and number.

If your proposal is being submitted by US Mail, it must be addressed to:

Montclair State University Office of Procurement Services 1 Normal Avenue Montclair, New Jersey 07042

If your proposal is being submitted BY HAND OR OVERNIGHT DELIVERY (FedEx, UPS, etc.), please address it to:

Montclair State University Office of Procurement Services, 150 Clove Road, 3rd Floor, Little Falls, New Jersey 07424.

ANY PROPOSAL NOT RECEIVED BY THE DATE, TIME AND AT THE LOCATION NOTED IN THIS RFP WILL BE REJECTED.

Note: Bidders using US Regular or Express mail services should allow adequate time to ensure that Proposal are received at Procurement Services on the date and time indicated on the cover sheet.

4.4 NUMBER OF PROPOSAL COPIES

The Bidder must submit one (1) complete ORIGINAL Proposal, clearly marked as the "ORIGINAL" Proposal. The Bidder should submit three (3) exact copies on a flash drive clearly marked with the vendor's name and RFP number. The copies requested are necessary in the evaluation of the Proposal. It is suggested that the Bidder make and retain a copy of its Proposal.

4.5 PROPOSAL CONTENT

Bidders are instructed to submit its Proposal in the following sections with the content of each section as indicated below:

- 1. Section 1 Required Supporting Bid Documents (Appendix # 1)
- 2. Section 2 Price Sheet (Section 4.6 and Attachment # 1)
- 3. Section 3 Technical Proposal / Statement of Qualifications (Section 4.7)
- 4. Section 4 Any other documents to be included by the Bidder

4.6 PRICING

The Bidder must submit its pricing using the format set forth in the price sheet(s) attached to this RFP (Attachment #1). Failure to submit all information required will result in the Proposal being considered non-responsive unless the University determines the information is not material and may be waived. Each Bidder is required to hold its prices firm through issuance of the Contract.

4.6.1 PRICE ALTERATION

Bid prices must be typed or written in ink. Any price change (including "white-outs") must be initialed. Failure to initial price changes may preclude a Contract award from being made to the Bidder.

4.7 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL / STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

The Bidder must provide the Statement of Qualifications listed below and should be presented in the same order as listed. Attachments that amplify responses or provide relevant illustrations are highly welcome. Failure to provide qualifications will result in your Proposal being deemed non-responsive.

A. Company Profile/Personnel

- 1) Provide a vision for a potential relationship. Describe how your organization is uniquely qualified to support Montclair
- 2) Provide resumes for the key leadership, the account manager, and service team who will work with Montclair State University. Include names and titles.
- 3) Provide a list of higher education clients your firm currently serves, or have served within the last five (5) years. Include the programs supported. A minimum number of three (3) years of experience working with higher education clients is required
- 4) Provide examples of successful higher education marketing campaigns for online, oncampus, and certificate programs
- 5) Provide a timeline for campaigns that align with our Targeted Enrollment numbers

B. Service Capabilities

- 6) <u>Market Research</u> Describe your firm's approach and methodology to provide technically sound analyses of the market for prospective new degree programs. Include the following:
 - a. A description of your firm's approach to market analysis and how it identifies student demand for current and prospective online and in-person programs. Include examples of data your firm looks for to identify if a program would be successful in an online market
 - b. A description of how your firm sets a KPI target and the budget for a program
 - c. Samples of creative marketing produced for other higher education institutions
- 7) <u>Program Marketing</u> Provide two case studies of developed market strategies with a similar scope of work as that described in Section 3.0 of this RFP for an organization of a comparable size to Montclair State University. Please include the following in the case studies while respecting each institution's data privacy:
 - a. A description of how the campaign(s) are developed for both paid and organic leads, annual media spend, annual new enrollment, other measurable outcomes, and key lessons learned during the partnership. If available, sample report(s) and/or user dashboard created for the client should be included. If your firm has worked with any fee-for-service partners, include one case study reflecting this model
 - b. A description of the process for the creation of marketing content that is aligned with University branding guidelines
 - c. Strategies to increase lead generation through paid and non-paid marketing
 - d. The intended channels your firm uses for marketing with clients (Social media, mobile)
 - e. Marketing strategies to prospects both in state and out of state, along with examples of spending differences by geography and long-term outcome metrics based on geography (e.g., what are the conversion and enrollment metrics for in- and for out-of-state recruiting?)
 - f. Evidence of building business to business relationships to help drive enrollments to programs
 - g. Measures used by the firm to evaluate effectiveness of all marketing efforts such as heat mapping and geotesting
- 8) General Marketing Provide the following:
 - a. Describe how your firm would create messaging and branding aligned with the strategic marketing plan of the University and the program-specific attributes.
 - b. Describe your firm's approach to develop both paid and organic leads.

c. Describe how your team will integrate with the existing admission CRM. Provide examples of previous or current integrations, ideally those with Slate, Canvas, and Ellucian Banner/Workday).

4.8 REQUIRED SUPPORTING BID DOCUMENTS

The Bidder must submit Required Supporting Bid Documents (Appendix # 1) at the time of Proposal submission or prior to the issuance of the Contract, as outlined in Appendix # 1.

Note: The first section of Appendix # 1 references RFP specific submittals that are to be provided separately from the other items listed. Refer to RFP Section 4.5 for additional information regarding how Bidders are instructed to submit its Proposal.

4.8.1 BID SECURITY

Not applicable to this RFP.

4.8.2 FINANCIAL CAPABILITY OF THE BIDDER

Not applicable to this RFP.

4.8.3 PUBLIC WORKS CONTRACTOR REGISTRATION

Not applicable to this RFP.

5.0 PROPOSAL EVALUATION

The University reserves the right to waive minor irregularities or omissions in a Proposal. The University also reserves the right to waive a requirement provided that the requirement does not materially affect the procurement or the University's interests associated with the procurement.

5.1 EVALUATION CRITERIA

Proposals will be evaluated on Price and other factors. The following evaluation criteria categories, not necessarily listed in order of significance, will be used to evaluate Proposals received in response to this RFP.

5.1.1 TECHNICAL EVALUATION CRITERIA

The following criteria will be used to evaluate all Proposal that meet the requirements of this RFP. The criteria are not necessarily listed in order of importance:

- 1) Experience of Firm: The Bidder's documented experience in successfully completing contracts of a similar size and scope in relation to the work required by this RFP;
- 2) <u>Service Quality:</u> Bidder offers high-quality services; demonstrates a strong understanding of the University's goals;
- 3) <u>Personnel</u>: The qualifications and experience of the Bidder's management, supervisory, and key personnel assigned to the Contract, including the candidates recommended for each of the positions/roles required;
- 4) <u>Enrollment Goals</u>: Bidder demonstrates clear pathway to achievable and sustainable enrollment goals, offers some form of guarantees;

5) <u>Capability of firm to complete the Scope of Work based on its Proposal:</u> The overall ability of the Bidder to undertake and successfully complete the contract requirements in a timely and effective manner.

5.1.2 PRICE EVALUATION

For evaluation purposes, Bidders will be ranked according to the pricing located on Attachment # 1 - Price Sheet accompanying this RFP. However, the award will be made taking into consideration price and other factors.

5.2 ORAL PRESENTATION AND/OR CLARIFICATION OF PROPOSAL

After Proposals are reviewed, the University may request one (1), some or all Bidders to give an oral presentation to the University concerning its Proposal. Bidders may not attend presentations made by their competitors.

The University may also require the vendor to clarify certain aspects of its Proposal. A request for clarification may be made in order to resolve minor ambiguities, irregularities, informalities or clerical errors. Clarifications cannot correct any deficiencies, material omissions, or used to revise or modify a Proposal.

It is within the University's discretion whether to require the Bidder to give an oral presentation, or require the Bidders to submit written responses to questions regarding its Proposal. Action by the University in this regard should not be construed to imply acceptance or rejection of a Proposal. Procurement Services is the sole point of contact regarding any request for an oral presentation or clarification.

5.3 BEST AND FINAL OFFER (BAFO)

The University may invite one (1) Bidder or multiple Bidders to submit a Best and Final Offer (BAFO). Said invitation will establish the time and place for submission of the BAFO. Any BAFO that does not result in more advantageous pricing to the University will not be considered, and the University will evaluate the Bidder's most advantageous previously submitted pricing.

BAFOs will be conducted only in those circumstances where it is deemed by the Director to be in the University's best interests and to maximize the University's ability to get the best value. Therefore, the Bidder is advised to submit its best technical and price proposal in response to this RFP since the University may, after evaluation, make a Contract award based on the content of the initial submission. The University may conduct more than one (1) round of BAFO in order to attain the best value for the University.

If the University contemplates BAFOs, prices will not be publicly read at the bid opening. Only the name and address of each Bidder will be publicly announced at the bid opening.

5.4 PROPOSAL DISCREPANCIES

In evaluating Proposal, discrepancies between words and figures will be resolved in favor of words. Discrepancies between unit of measure and totals of unit prices will be resolved in favor of unit prices. Discrepancies in the multiplication of units of measure and unit prices will be resolved in favor of the unit prices. Discrepancies between the indicated total of multiplied unit prices and units of measure and the actual total will be resolved in favor of the actual total. Discrepancies between the indicated sum of any column of figures and the correct sum thereof will be resolved in favor of the corrected sum of the column of figures.

6.0 CONTRACT AWARD

6.1 AWARD

The Contract award shall be made with reasonable promptness by written notice to that responsible Bidder, whose Proposal, conforming to this RFP, is most advantageous to the University, price, and other factors considered. The University reserves the right to reject all bids, to reject those bids that are non-responsive, or to award in whole or in part, if deemed to be in the best interest of the University to do so. Furthermore, the University reserves the right to waive any minor informality where such waiver is permitted by law.

6.2 BIDDERS RIGHT TO PROTEST AWARD OF CONTRACT

A Bidder who submits a proposal in response to an RFP may submit a written protest to the Director of Procurement of the University setting forth in detail the specific grounds for challenging the award. The protest shall be filed within ten (10) business days following the Bidder's receipt of written notification, sent either by certified mail or facsimile transmission, that its Proposal was not accepted or of notice of the decision to award the Contract. Any protest filed after the 10-day period may be disregarded. If the Contract award is protested, the University may proceed to award the Contract if the failure to award will result in substantial cost to the University or if public exigency so requires. All contract awards will be posted on the Procurement Services website: https://www.montclair.edu/procurement/awarded-contracts/.

7.0 SPECIAL CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

7.1 PRECEDENCE OF SPECIAL CONTRACTUAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS

The Contract awarded as a result of this RFP shall consist of Addendum to this RFP, this RFP (including the University's Standard Contract Terms and Conditions (Appendix 1, Item 2.3), the Contractor's Proposal and the University's Agreement incorporating these documents and signed by the Contractor and the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer.

In the event of a conflict between provisions within the Contract documents, the Contract documents shall have the following order of priority: Contract, RFP Addendum in the order of the most recent issuance date, the RFP, the University's Standard Contract Terms and Conditions and the Contractor's Proposal.

7.2 CONTRACT TERM AND EXTENSION OPTION

The term of the Contract shall be for a period of three (3) years. The anticipated "Contract Effective Date" is provided on the Signature Page of this Request for Proposal. If delays in the procurement process result in a change to the anticipated Contract Effective Date, the Bidder agrees to accept a Contract for the full term of the contract. The Contract may be extended for all or part of two (2), one-year periods, by the mutual written consent of the contractor and the University's Vice President of Finance and Treasurer.

7.3 CONTRACT TRANSITION

In the event that a new Contract has not been awarded prior to the Contract expiration date, as may be extended herein, it shall be incumbent upon the Contractor to continue the Contract under the same terms and conditions until a new Contract can be completely operational. At no time shall this transition period extend more than ninety (90) days beyond the expiration date of the Contract.

7.4 CONTRACT AMENDMENT

Any changes or modifications to the terms of the Contract shall be valid only when they have been reduced to writing and signed by the Contractor and the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer.

7.5 CONTRACTOR'S WARRANTY

The Contractor is responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, timely completion and delivery of all deliverables and other services to be furnished by the Contractor under the Contract. The Contractor agrees to perform in a good, skillful and timely manner all services set forth in the Contract.

The Contractor shall, without additional compensation, correct or revise any errors, omissions, or other deficiencies in its services and deliverables furnished under the Contract. The approval of interim deliverables furnished under the Contract shall not in any way relieve the Contractor of fulfilling all of its obligations under the Contract. The acceptance or payment for any of the services rendered under the Contract shall not be construed as a waiver by the University, of any rights under the agreement or of any cause of action arising out of the Contractor's performance of the Contract.

The acceptance of, approval of or payment for any of the services performed by the Contractor under the Contract shall not constitute a release or waiver of any claim the University has or may have for latent defects or errors or other breaches of warranty or negligence.

7.6 ITEMS ORDERED AND DELIVERED – NOT APPLICABLE TO THIS RFP

The Contractor is authorized to ship only those items covered by the contract resulting from this RFP. If a review of orders placed by University user departments reveals that material other than that covered by the contract has been ordered and delivered, such delivery shall be a violation of the terms of the contract

and may be considered by the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer as a basis to terminate the contract and/or as a basis not to award the contractor a subsequent contract. The University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer may take such steps as are necessary to have the items returned to the contractor, regardless of the time between the date of delivery and discovery of the violation. In such event, the contractor shall reimburse the University the full purchase price.

The Contract involves items which are necessary for the continuation of ongoing critical University services. Any delay in delivery of these items would disrupt University services and would force the University to immediately seek alternative sources of supply on an emergency basis. Timely delivery is critical to meeting the University's ongoing needs.

7.7 REMEDIES FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH MATERIAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS

In the event that the Contractor fails to comply with any material Contract requirements, the University's Vice President for Finance and Treasurer may take steps to terminate the Contract in accordance with the provisions herein and/or authorize the delivery of Contract items by any available means, with the difference between the price paid and the defaulting contractor's price either being deducted from any monies due the defaulting Contractor or being an obligation owed the University by the defaulting Contractor.

7.8 SUBSTITUTION OF STAFF

If it becomes necessary for the Contractor to substitute any management, supervisory or key personnel, the Contractor shall identify the substitute personnel and the work to be performed. The Contractor must provide detailed justification documenting the necessity for the substitution. Resumes must be submitted evidencing that the individual(s) proposed as substitute(s) have qualifications and experience equal to or better than the individual(s) originally proposed or currently assigned.

The Contractor shall forward a request to substitute staff to the University for consideration and approval. No substitute personnel are authorized to begin work until the Contractor has received written approval to proceed from the University.

7.9 ADDITIONAL WORK AND/OR SPECIAL PROJECTS

The Contractor shall not begin performing any additional work or special projects related to this RFP without first obtaining the University's written approval.

In the event of additional work and/or special projects, the Contractor must present a written Quote to perform the additional work to the University. The Quote should provide justification for the necessity of the additional work. The Contractor's written Quote must provide a detailed description of the work to be performed broken down by task and subtask. The written Quote must detail the cost necessary to complete the additional work in a manner consistent with this Contract. The written price schedule must be based upon the hourly rates, unit costs or other cost elements submitted by the Contractor in the Contractor's original Proposal submitted in response to this RFP. Whenever possible, the price schedule

should be a firm, fixed all-inclusive price to perform the required work. A payment schedule, tied to successful completion of tasks and subtasks, must be included.

In the event the Contractor proceeds with additional work and/or special projects without the University's written approval, it shall be at the Contractor's sole risk. The University shall be under no obligation to pay for work performed without the University's written approval.

APPENDIX #1 - REQUIRED SUPPORTING BID DOCUMENTS (CHECKLIST)

NOTE: The documents listed below are required by State Law and University Policy. All documents are required to be completed. Procurement Services Forms can be found at: https://www.montclair.edu/procurement/forms/.

THIS CHECKLIST WAS CREATED AS A GUIDE TO ASSIST BIDDERS AND MAY NOT IDENTIFY ALL REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTING A COMPLETE PROPOSAL. IT IS THE BIDDER'S RESPONSIBILITY TO ENSURE THAT ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE RFP HAVE BEEN MET.				
1. RF	1. RFP SPECIFIC SUBMITTALS THAT MUST BE SUBMITTED BY THE BIDDER WITH THE PROPOSAL.			
#	Document Title	Applicable?		
1	PRICE SHEET – Refer to Section 4.6 and Attachment 1 for information.	Yes		
2	TECHNICAL PROPOSAL / STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS – Refer to Section 4.7 for information.	Yes		
2. S	2. STANDARD SUBMITTALS THAT MUST BE SUBMITTED BY THE BIDDER WITH THE PROPOSAL.			
#	Document Title	Applicable?		
1	SIGNATURE PAGE – Refer to Page 2 of this RFP.	Yes		
2	OWNERSHIP DISCLOSURE FORM - Refer to Ownership Disclosure Form (PDF)	Yes		
3	MONTCLAIR STATE UNIVERSITY STANDARD CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS - Refer to Montclair State University Standard Terms and Conditions (PDF)	Yes		
4	AGREEMENT OF SURETY/BID BOND - Refer to RFP Section 4.8.1	No		
5	FINANCIAL CAPABILITY OF THE BIDDER – Refer to RFP Section 4.8.2	No		
6	PUBLIC WORKS REGISTRATION – Refer to RFP Section 4.8.3	No		
3. STANDARD SUBMITTALS THAT SHOULD BE SUBMITTED BY THE VENDOR WITH THE PROPOSAL. THESE FORMS MUST BE SUBMITTED PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF CONTRACT.				
#	Document Title	Applicable?		
1	BUSINESS REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE - Refer to New Jersey Business Registration Certificate (BRC) Instructions & Sample (PDF)	Yes		
2	POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE (CHAPTER 51) - Refer to Chapter 51 / EO 117 Vendor Certification and Disclosure of Political Contributions (PDF)	Yes		
3	MANDATORY EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY LANGUAGE - Refer to AA-302 Employee Information Report for Good and Services (PDF)	Yes		
4	EXCESS LIABILITY INSURANCE - PROVIDED IN STANDARD CONTRACT TERMS AND CONDITIONS)	No		
5	<u>EUGDPR DATA PROTECTION ADDENDUM</u> (Only required if Bidder will be providing Services in European Union) - <i>Refer to Data Protection Addendum – EUGDPR (PDF)</i>	No		
6	<u>CHINA DATA PROTECTION ADDENDUM</u> (Only required if Bidder will be providing Services in People's Republic of China) - <i>Refer to Data Protection Addendum – China (PDF)</i>	No		